

NORTHERN HEIGHTS SPORT CLUB

BY-LAWS

Updated August 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1	NAME	Page 1
ARTICLE 2	OBJECTIVES	Page 1
ARTICLE 3	HEAD OFFICE	Page 1
ARTICLE 4	AFFILIATIONS	Page 1
ARTICLE 5	MEMBERSHIPS	Page 1
5.2	Regular Member	Page 2
5.3	Membership Renewal	Page 2
5.4	Life Member	Page 2
5.5	Fees	Page 2
5.6	Discipline of Member	Page 3
5.7	Termination of Member	Page 3
ARTICLE 6	BOARD OF DIRECTORS	Page 3 & 4
6.2	Director Vacancy	Page 4
6.3	Removal of a Member of the Board of Directors	Page 4 & 5
6.4	Duties of Board of Directors	Page 5
6.5	Duties of Directors & Executive Members	Page 5 & 6
6.6	Nominations and Elections	Page 6 & 7
ARTICLE 7	MEETINGS	Page 7
7.2	Members Meetings	Page 7 & 8
7.3	Special Meeting	Page 8
7.4	Proxy Voting at Meeting of Members	Page 8
7.5	Board of Directors Meeting	Page 8
7.6	Participation/Holding by Electronic Means	Page 8
ARTICLE 8	EXECUTIVE-COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD	Page 9
ARTICLE 9	COMMITTEES	Page 9
ARTICLE 10	AMENDMENTS OF BY-LAWS	Page 9
ARTICLE 11	POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	Page 10
ARTICLE 12	FINANCES AND AMENDMENTS	Page 10
12.1	Fiscal Year	Page 10
12.2	Auditors	Page 10
12.3	Annual Financial Statements	Page 10
12.4	Books and Records	Page 10
12.5	Signing Authority	Page 11
ARTICLE 13	CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND STANDARDS OF CONDUCT	Page 11
ARTICLE 14	INDEMNITY	Page 11
ARTICLE 15	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	Page 11
ARTICLE 16	HARASSMENT	Page 11 & 12
ARTICLE 17	APPEALS	Page 12
ARTICLE 18	DISSOLUTION OF ORGANIZATION	Page 12
ARTICLE 19	DEFINITIONS/TERMINOLOGY	Page 12
	Current Life Members	Page 12

NORTHERN HEIGHTS SPORT CLUB

BY-LAWS

ARTICLE 1 NAME

The name of this CLUB shall be the "NORTHERN HEIGHTS SPORT CLUB" hereinafter referred to as the NHSC.

ARTICLE 2 OBJECTIVES

The NHSC shall provide competitions for teams in all appropriate age divisions in SAULT STE MARIE according to the following principles:

2.1 To provide all players registered with NHSC the opportunity to play within the means of the NHSC.

2.2 To provide development for all players and to allow all players to strive to be the best that they can, by providing several levels of play.

2.3 To provide a system which strives to provide balanced competition and recreation for all participants.

2.4 To provide a system whereby each team is encouraged to take interest in sportsmanship, team play and player development, ahead of personal goals.

ARTICLE 3 HEAD OFFICE

The NHSC will have its Head Office in the Municipality of Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario.

ARTICLE 4 AFFILIATIONS

4.1 The NHSC shall be a member of the Sault Amateur Soccer Association hereinafter referred to as SASA and shall follow the published rules of the SASA and Ontario Soccer, and Canada Soccer. The NHSC is subject to the published rules in declining order of authority of the following bodies to which it is affiliated:

- i) Canada Soccer
- ii) Ontario Soccer
- iii) The SASA

ARTICLE 5 MEMBERSHIPS

5.1 There are two classes of members

Namely: Regular members and Life Members.

5.2 Regular Member

A regular member is either:

- i)** The parent or legal guardian of a player registered with NHSC who is in good standing.
- ii)** All team staff and convenors or a person who volunteers for NHSC
- iii)** An elected member of the Board of Directors.
- iv)** Although an individual may qualify for, and be registered under, more than one of the above categories, each individual holds only one membership in NHSC, and is entitled to one vote at a meeting of members (Members Meeting).
- v)** Every regular voting member aged 18 and over shall have the right to attend, speak and cast one vote at meeting of the members of the NHSC.
- vi)** Every regular member entitled to vote at a meeting of Members may, by means of a proxy, appoint a person, who need not be a member, as the Member's nominee to attend and act at the meeting in the manner, to the extent and with the power conferred by the proxy. An individual may only hold one proxy. The format for the proxy and the issues for which the proxy may be cast are as defined in the Policies and Procedures

5.3 Membership Renewal

- i)** Membership duration is accorded on an annual basis. Membership is non-transferable.

5.4 Life Member

- i)** The Board of Directors may designate an individual as a life member.
- ii)** A life member is afforded all rights of membership, including the right to attend, and vote at Members Meetings.
- iii)** The founders of NHSC are life members of the NHSC. (see appendix)
- iv)** Life members will be admitted from time to time at the discretion of the Board of Directors on nominations received in writing.
- v)** The admission of new life members shall require a 2/3's vote by the Board of Directors

5.5 Fees

- i)** Membership fees shall be set by the Board of Directors and shall be included in their registration fee for the season.
- ii)** Membership fees can be amended by the membership at a Members meeting.

5.6 Discipline of Member

i) A Member may be fined, censured, suspended or expelled from membership for cause and only after charges have been laid in accordance with the NHSCs published rules and a hearing held in accordance with the NHSC's and Ontario Soccer's Governing Documents. An individual whose membership has been suspended loses all rights of membership until the suspension has been terminated.

ii) Player, team and team official discipline for game infractions is governed in accordance with the procedures published by Ontario Soccer.

iii) Any Member who infringes the Articles or rules of the NHSC, or brings the NHSC into disrepute, may be reprimanded, suspended or expelled from the NHSC after a hearing by the Board of Directors of the NHSC at which hearing the member is entitled to attend.

5.7 Termination of Member

A member shall be deemed to have terminated his or her membership in NHSC:

i) if the member submits a signed letter of resignation to NHSC

ii) if the member is expelled by the NHSC Board of Directors

iii) if the member is no longer registered with NHSC

ARTICLE 6 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

6.1 The NHSC shall be governed by a Board of Directors of eleven (11) that may be amended from time to time according to NHSC's by-laws.

The Board of Directors shall consist of individuals holding the following positions.

President
Vice President
Secretary
Treasurer/Registrar
Director of Media Relations
Director of Sponsors
Director of Equipment
Director of Player Development
Director of Grass Roots
Director of Boys
Director of Girls

i) A Director may hold more than one position.

ii) A Director may not hold an elected position with another youth club's Board of Directors in SASA.

iii) A Director shall be 18 years of age or older, shall not be an undischarged bankrupt, and shall be of sound mind.

iv) A Director must act as a careful and prudent person always consider the best interests of the Club.

v) A Director shall serve for a term of two years or until his or her successor is elected or appointed.

vi) The positions of President, Treasurer/Registrar, Director of Equipment, Director of Media Relations & Director of Boys shall be elected in odd numbered years while the positions of Vice President, Secretary, Director of Sponsors, Director of Player Development, Director of Grass Roots & Director of Girls shall be elected in even numbered years.

vi) A simple majority shall form a quorum at a meeting of the board of directors

6.2 Director Vacancy

i) A Director has the right to resign her or his position by submitting a signed letter of resignation to NHSC.

ii) A vacancy on the Board of Directors and their respective positions held, caused by death, or resignation which has been accepted by the Board of Directors, shall be filled by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. The successor Director shall hold his or her incumbent position for the remainder of the term being filled.

6.3 Removal of A Member Of The Board Of Directors

No member of the Board of Directors shall be removed for arbitrary reasons but may be removed if:

1. they are unable to perform the duties expected of their position due to, but not limited to, any of the following reasons:

i) if they become incapable of performing the business of the NHSC as seen fit by 2/3's of the remaining Board of Directors.

ii) if they are absent from, consecutively, three or more meetings of the board without satisfactory reason.

iii) if they no longer reside in the district.

iv) if they become, or are discovered to be, an undischarged bankrupt

OR

2. they have compromised the integrity of the NHSC due to, but not limited to, any of the following reasons:

i) if they have been found guilty of an offence under the Harassment Policy of Ontario Soccer.

ii) if they have failed to properly account for monies or other property belonging to NHSC.

iii) if they have been found guilty of a criminal offence regardless of whether or not the offence directly affected the NHSC.

a) A member of the Board of Directors holding his or her respective position(s), as Director or other position(s), may be removed from office by the Board of Directors for good and sufficient cause by a 2/3's vote of the Board of Directors present, provided notice to remove the Director has been given to all Directors of the NHSC no less than 14 days of the Board of Directors meeting. If a Director is removed by the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors may appoint a successor to the position for the remainder of the term being filled.

b) A member of the Board of Directors may also be removed from office for good and sufficient cause at a meeting of the members of NHSC provided notice to remove the Director has been given to persons entitled to attend the members meeting, no less than 14 days of the Members Meeting. A 50% plus one of members present, entitled to vote is required for the removal of a Director. If a Director is removed at a Members Meeting, the members entitled to vote may elect a successor to fill all position(s) held by the removed Director for the remainder of the term being filled.

6.4 Duties of Board of Directors

In accordance with applicable incorporation legislation and with these Bylaws, the Board is empowered to make policies and procedures to the affairs of the organization, to discipline Members, and to manage and handle disputes within the organization.

The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the appointment and renewal of appointments of all positions within the NHSC except for those positions elected by the Member. This shall include the appointment of volunteer and paid positions for coach and administrator positions within the NHSC operations. The selection process shall be based on procedures outlined in the NHSC policies.

The Board may also revoke, for cause, any appointment providing it has followed the procedures for the revoking an appointment as outlined in the NHSC policies.

The Board is empowered to determine registration procedures, set player fees, and determine other registration requirements.

6.5 Duties of Directors and Executive Members

i) The President shall preside at all General Meetings of NHSC and of the Board of Directors and shall be ex officio a member of all committees, except for a nominations committee; shall appoint all chairs of standing and special committees subject to ratification by the Board of Directors: coordinate all duties of the Board of Directors, committees, staff, and shall be the spokesperson for NHSC.

ii) The Vice-President shall act in the absence of the President and shall preside at all meetings in the President's absence and shall have such other duties as prescribed by the President or Board of Directors.

iii) The Secretary shall maintain a record of all minutes of NHSC, maintain copies of all committee reports, notify officers and committee members of their election or appointment, furnish committees with those documents required to perform their duties, sign all certified copies of acts of the organization (unless otherwise specified in the NHSC's Governing Documents maintain record books in which bylaws, published rules and minutes are entered and have the current record books available at each meeting, send to the membership a notice of each General Meeting, send to the Board of Directors notices of each meeting, conduct the general correspondence of the organization that is not the proper function of another office or committee, prepare, prior to each meeting in consultation with the presiding officer an order of business, and, in the absence of the President and Vice President, preside until the immediate election or appointment of a new presiding officer.

iv) The Treasurer/Registrar shall ensure that full and accurate records are kept of the account of NHSC, shall report to the Board of Directors at least once per quarter, and shall submit an Annual Report at the Annual General Meeting. The NHSC Registrar shall register all players, coaches, game officials and administrators with the NHSC and with the District Association, shall maintain statistics on all player registration, shall report to the Board at each NHSC meeting, and shall submit an Annual Report at the Annual General Meeting.

v) The Director of Sponsors shall pursue all forms of sponsorship. Perform special assignments as requested from time to time by the executive. Assist with evaluation and draft. Oversee the organization of all league banquets. Oversee media relations.

vi) The Director of Equipment shall order new uniforms for all teams on an annual basis. Maintain, store, distribute all uniforms to league teams. Maintain, store, distribute all league equipment such as soccer balls, practice equipment, first aid kits, etc. Purchase trophies, medals, crests and awards for all league functions, including tournaments.

vii) The Director of Player Development shall be responsible for working with the Directors of Boys and Girls, to choose and screen coaches. It will also be the responsibility of the Director of Player Development to communicate with the coaches and to provide support and training when required or requested.

viii) The Director of Girls/Boys shall be responsible for choosing a Convenor in each division. It will also be the responsibility for each of the Directors to communicate and support the Convenors and to act as the first point of communication between the Convenors and parents.

ix) The Director Grassroots shall be responsible for choosing a Convenor and/or coaches for the mini program. The Director of Grass Roots will also work with the Directors of Boys/Girls to bring the Grassroots ages into the Grassroots program.

x) The Director of Media Relations shall using the various social media, print and other media promote NHSC, it's programs and events. The Director of Media Relations shall also monitor and respond to the various social media feeds.

6.6 Nominations and Elections

i) The President will appoint subject to ratification by the board, a Nominations Committee. The Nominations Committee will be responsible to solicit and receive nominations for the election of the Directors.

Any nomination of an individual for election as a Director will:

- a) Include the written consent of the nominee by signed or electronic signature;
- b) Comply with the procedures established by the Nominations Committee; and
- c) Be submitted to the Club office or by email seven (7) days prior to the Members Meeting. This timeline may be extended by Board.

Notwithstanding the above, nominations from the floor at the Members Meeting or Special Members meeting will also be accepted under the following circumstances if;

1. A nominee, having been defeated for the position for which he/she was nominated, may be renominated from the floor for a subsequent position.
2. No nominees are received for a position ahead of the above stated deadline.

ii) Nominations and elections for positions open shall be held in the order of the positions listed in the Constitution,

iii) Election shall be by secret ballot, but in the event only one candidate is nominated, a vote of 50% plus one of the voting members present and votes received by proxy is required, for this candidate to be declared elected.

iv) In the event that this candidate is not declared elected, the position will be opened again for nominations and if no further nominations are received at this time the position will remain vacant until this position is advertised and a meeting held to elect someone to fill this position. In the interim or if nobody is elected to fill this position, the Executive Committee may appoint a member of NHSC to fill this term.

v) A majority of the votes cast shall be required to elect Directors. In the event no candidate receives a majority, the candidate with the least votes shall be dropped from the ballot and another vote shall be held.

ARTICLE 7 MEETINGS

All meetings of the NHSC shall be conducted in accordance with the most recently published Roberts Rules of Order Newly Revised except as may be otherwise stipulated in this By Law or other Rules and Regulations of the NHSC.

7.1 Meetings (Members Meeting, Special Meeting, Board of Directors Meeting)

i) An official notice of each meeting shall be given to all members at least 14 days before the meeting is to be held, at such place, and at such date as the Board of Directors may determine. Such notification shall be by: email, website notice, or any other method determined by the Board.

7.2 Members Meeting

The Northern Heights Sport Club shall hold its Members Meeting within 90 days of the fiscal year end.

The agenda for the Members Meeting will at least include:

- a) Call to order
- b) Establishment of quorum
- c) Declaration of Conflicts of Interest
- d) Appointment of Scrutineers
- e) Approval of the agenda
- f) Approval of minutes of the previous Annual Meeting
- g) Report of Auditors
- h) Appointment of Auditors
- i) By-law amendments, if any
- j) Election of new Directors
- k) Adjournment

At the beginning of each meeting, the Board may appoint one or more tellers who will be responsible for ensuring that votes are properly cast and counted.

i) The Chairperson may at their discretion introduce any special business for discussion after the approval of the minutes.

ii) A quorum for a meeting is defined as a majority of the Board of Directors plus one (1) voting member present at the meeting.

iii) All voting members in good standing are entitled to one (1) vote.

7.3 Special Meeting

A Special Meeting of NHSC:

a) A Special Meeting of Members may be called anytime by the President or Board of Directors or

b) upon the written requisition of ten percent (10%) or more of the Members for any purpose connected with the affairs of the Club, within twenty-one (21) days from the date of the deposit of the requisition. Only the business set out in the notice of the Special Meeting of the Members shall be considered.

7.4 Proxy Voting at Meeting of Members:

Every regular Member entitled to vote at a meeting of Members may, by means of a proxy, appoint a person, who need not be a member, as the Member's nominee to attend and act at the meeting in the manner, to the extent and with the power conferred by the proxy. An individual may only hold one proxy. The format for the proxy and the issues for which the proxy may be cast are as defined in the Policies and Procedures

7.5 Board of Directors Meeting

i) The Board shall meet every three (3) months upon 14 days notice, at such place and time as the Board may determine.

ii) A majority of the members of the Board of Directors shall form a quorum at all meetings of the Board. Questions arising at any meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes where each director is entitled to cast one vote except the presiding officer who, in case of a tie, shall cast the deciding vote.

7.6 Participation/Holding by Electronic Means

Any person entitled to attend a meeting of Members may participate in the meeting by telephonic or electronic means that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting if the NHSC makes such means available. A person so participating in a meeting is deemed to be present at the meeting. The Directors or Members, may determine that the meeting be held entirely by telephonic or electronic means that permit all participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting.

ARTICLE 8 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD

8.1 The President, Vice-President, Treasurer and Secretary shall serve as the Executive Committee. Two of these four members if they include the President and Vice-President, shall form a quorum. Three of these four Members shall form a quorum otherwise.

8.2 During the intervals between meetings of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee shall possess, and may exercise, all the powers of the Board in the management and direction of the affairs of the Club.

8.3 The Executive Committee must obtain permission from the Board of Directors For non-budgeted expenditures above one thousand (\$1000.00) dollars.

8.4 Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be held at the call of the President or at the call of any member of the Executive Committee in writing to the rest of the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE 9 COMMITTEES

The membership, at any Meeting of Members or the Directors, at any meeting of the Board of Directors may establish a standing committee or special committee to carry out specific business or programs of NHSC.

9.1 The Board may appoint such committees as it deems necessary for managing the affairs of the Club and may appoint members of committees or provide for the election of members of committees, may prescribe the duties and terms of reference of committees, and may delegate to any Committee any of its powers, duties, and functions.

9.2 When a vacancy occurs on any Committee, the Board may appoint a qualified individual to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the Committee's term.

9.3 The Board may remove any member of any Committee.

9.4 No Committee will have the authority to incur debts in the name of the Club.

9.5 The President will be an ex-officio non-voting member of all Committees of the Club.

9.6 Any Committee Meeting minutes must be presented to the Board of Directors by the next scheduled Board Meeting.

ARTICLE 10 AMENDMENTS OF BY-LAWS

These By-laws may only be amended, revised, repealed, or added to:

- a) by a two-thirds affirmative vote of the voting members present at a meeting duly called to amend, revise, or repeal these Bylaws. Upon affirmative vote, any amendments, revisions, addition or deletions will be effective immediately.
- b) amendments may be proposed by a Member to the Board of Directors in writing at least 45 days prior and submitted to the Members in writing at least 21 days prior to a Meeting of the Members of the NHSC.

ARTICLE 11 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

11.1 The Board of Directors may approve and amend Policies and Procedures which are not inconsistent with this by-law.

11.2 If a change in the Policies and Procedures is made, it cannot be amended or changed for a period of six (6) months unless the change is made by the person voting for the original change.

ARTICLE 12 FINANCES AND MANAGEMENT

12.1 Unless otherwise determined by the Board, the fiscal year of the Club will be June 01 to May 31.

12.2 The financial statements of the Club shall be reviewed by Public Accountant, Certified General Accountant or a Certified Management Accountant through a Financial Review Engagement, as defined by CICA. The auditor will not be a director, officer or employee of NHSC or any affiliated Club or who is a partner, employer or employee of any such director, officer or employee. The Members may, by special resolution passed by at least two-thirds of the votes cast at a general meeting of which proper notice has been provided, remove any auditor before the expiration of the auditor's term of office.

12.3 The Directors will approve financial statements (evidenced by signature of one or more Directors) of the NHSC of the last fiscal year of the Corporation but not more than six (6) months before the Members' Meeting and present the approved financial statements before the Members at every Members' Meeting. A copy of the Annual Financial Statements will be provided to any Member requesting a copy of the Financial Statements not less than twenty-one (21) days before the Annual Meeting. The Financial Statements will include:

- a) The financial statements;
- b) The auditor's report; and
- c) Any further information respecting the financial position of the NHSC.

12.4 The necessary books and records of the NHSC required by these By-laws or by applicable law will be necessarily and properly kept. The books and records include, but are not limited to:

- a) The NHSC articles and By-laws;
- b) The minutes of meetings of the Members and of any committee of Members;
- c) The resolutions of the Members and of any committee of Members;
- d) The minutes of meetings of the Directors or any committee of Directors;
- e) The resolutions of the Directors and of any committee of Directors;
- f) A register of Officers;
- g) A register of Directors;
- h) A register of Members; and
- i) Account records adequate to enable the Directors to ascertain the financial position of the Club on a quarterly basis.

12.5 Contracts, agreements, deeds, leases, mortgages, charges, conveyances, transfers and assignments of property, leases and discharges for the payment of money or other obligations, conveyances, transfers and assignments of shares, stocks, bonds, debentures, or other securities, agencies, powers of attorney, instruments of proxy, voting certificates, returns, documents, reports, or any other instruments in writing to be executed by the Club will be executed by at least two (2) of the Officers or other individuals, as designated by the Board.

ARTICLE 13 CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

The Club is committed to providing an environment in which all Registrants and Members act honestly, in good faith, and in the best interests of the game of soccer. Activities of the Club, and those of its Registrants and Members, shall be conducted in a manner becoming the high ethical standard of business conduct expected of the leaders of soccer within the District and the Province of Ontario. A Director, Officer or member of a Committee who has an interest, or who may be perceived as having an interest, in a proposed contract or transaction with the Corporation will disclose fully and promptly the nature and extent of such interest to the Board or Committee will refrain from voting or speaking in debate on such contract or transaction, will refrain from influencing the decision on such contract or transaction.

All directors and committee members shall be subject to the Conflict of Interest Policy (Policy 12.0) in the Ontario Soccer's Governing Documents

ARTICLE 14 INDEMNITY

Members of the Board of Directors or other servants to NHSC, their heirs, executors, administrators and estate and effects respectively shall be indemnified and saved harmless at all times by the NHSC against all costs, losses and expenses incurred by them respectively in or about the discharge of their respective duties, except such as happens from their own respective willful neglect or default.

ARTICLE 15 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

15.1 The NHSC shall adhere to the Dispute Resolution process as published and approved by The OSA from time to time.

15.2 Any member of the NHSC may initiate the Dispute Resolution process by communicating in writing to The OSA, with a copy to the NHSC and SASA, the nature and facts of the dispute. The OSA, at its discretion, may proceed with the Dispute Resolution process by assigning one or more neutral persons to the dispute.

15.3 The Dispute Resolution process shall not be used for game discipline which follows the normal discipline and appeals process.

15.4 The NHSC shall make available to any member the Dispute Resolution process when requested

ARTICLE 16 HARASSMENT

16.1 NHSC shall adhere to a Harassment Policy as published and approved by The OSA from time to time.

16.2 The Harassment Policy shall apply to all employees, directors, officers, volunteers, coaches, game officials, administrators, players, members and registrants of the NHSC.

16.3 Harassment is defined as any comment conduct or gesture directed toward an individual or group of individuals which is insulting, intimidating, humiliating, malicious, degrading or offensive. It includes, but is not limited to, sexual harassment.

16.4 NHSC shall make available to any member the Harassment Policy when requested.

ARTICLE 17 APPEALS

17.1 Any member or registrant of NHSC directly affected by a decision of the Board of Directors may appeal such decision. The denial or termination of membership in NHSC may be appealed by a non member.

17.2 A decision of Board of Directors of NHSC may be appealed to SASA with which the NHSC is affiliated. The appeal shall be conducted in accordance with The OSA's and SASA's published rules.

17.3 An individual shall not appeal a decision made by the Board of Directors regarding the appointment, non-appointment, re-appointment or reinstatement of an appointment of an individual to any coach or administrator position within NHSC's operations, except where the selection, appointment and reclamation process outlined in NHSC's published rules has not been followed. The appeal shall be in accordance with OSA & SASA's published rules and the appeal must prove Rules and Regulations were not followed

17.4 An individual shall not appeal a decision made by the NHSC regarding a player's team assignment.

ARTICLE 18 DISSOLUTION OF ORGANIZATION

In the event of dissolution of NHSC, and after payment of all debts and liabilities, its remaining property shall be distributed or disposed of by the Board of Directors to one or more not-for-profit soccer related organizations, or any not-for-profit athletic community organizations, which operate solely in Sault Ste. Marie or district of Algoma.

ARTICLE 19 DEFINITIONS/TERMINOLOGY

19.1 Terminology used in this by law shall have the same meaning as utilized by The OSA in its letters patent, by-laws and published rules.

19.2 Members in good standing are those set out in Article 5.

19.3 Current year is the year prior to the Annual General Meeting.

CURRENT LIFE MEMBERS

1. John Jefferson
2. Ken MacKenzie
3. Ian MacKenzie
4. Raymond Mooney
5. George Adams
6. Iain Little